New York Journal of Mathematics

New York J. Math. 25 (2019) 362–373.

# Degree product formula in the case of a finite group action

## Piotr Bartłomiejczyk, Bartosz Kamedulski and Piotr Nowak-Przygodzki

ABSTRACT. Let V, W be finite dimensional orthogonal representations of a finite group G. The equivariant degree with values in the Burnside ring of G has been studied extensively by many authors. We present a short proof of the degree product formula for local equivariant maps on V and W.

#### Contents

Introduction			362
1.	Basic definitions		363
	1.1.	Local maps	363
	1.2.	Equivariant maps	364
	1.3.	Otopies	364
	1.4.	G-actions	364
	1.5.	Splitting of $\mathcal{C}_G[\Omega, V]$	364
	1.6.	Burnside ring	365
	1.7.	Local cross sections of a vector bundle	366
2.	2. Degree $\deg_G$		366
3.	Main result		366
4.	Standard and polystandard maps		367
5.	Proof of Main Theorem		368
Appendix A.			372
References			372

## Introduction

One of the basic properties of the topological degree is the *product property*. Recall that a continuous map from an open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  into  $\mathbb{R}^n$  is

Received August 28, 2018.

<sup>2010</sup> Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary: 55P91; Secondary: 54C35. Key words and phrases. Equivariant degree, Burnside ring, product property.

called *local* if its set of zeros is compact. For such maps the classical Brouwer degree deg is well-defined and the product property holds. Namely,

**Product property** ([6, Prop. 8.7]). Let  $f: D_f \subset \mathbb{R}^m \to \mathbb{R}^m$  and  $f': D_{f'} \subset \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^n$  be local maps. Then  $f \times f': D_f \times D_{f'} \to \mathbb{R}^{m+n}$  is also a local map and

$$\deg(f \times f') = \deg f \cdot \deg f'.$$

Our main goal is to present a short proof of an equivariant version of the product formula for equivariant local maps in the case of a finite group action. In that case the formula has an analogous form

$$\deg_G(f \times f') = \deg_G f \cdot \deg_G f',$$

but since the equivariant degree  $\deg_G$  has its values in the Burnside ring of a finite group G, the multiplication on the right side of the formula takes place in this Burnside ring. It is worth pointing out that in [7] the authors proved the equivariant product formula in much more general setting i.e. in the case of a compact Lie group action. Unfortunately, this proof seems to be rather sketchy in some parts. We hope that our proof has the advantage of being straightforward and complete and can be seen as the first step towards proving the general case.

The paper is organized as follows. Section 1 contains preliminaries. In Section 2 we recall the concept of the equivariant degree  $\deg_G$ . Our main result is stated in Section 3. In Section 4 we introduce standard and polystandard maps and study their properties needed in the next section. Finally, Section 5 contains the proof of our main result.

#### 1. Basic definitions

**1.1. Local maps.** The notation  $A \in B$  means that A is a compact subset of B. For a topological space X, we denote by  $\tau(X)$  the topology on X. For any topological spaces X and Y, let  $\mathcal{M}(X,Y)$  be the set of all continuous maps  $f: D_f \to Y$  such that  $D_f$  is an open subset of X. Let  $\mathcal{R}$  be a family of subsets of Y. We define

$$\operatorname{Loc}(X,Y,\mathcal{R}) := \{ f \in \mathcal{M}(X,Y) \mid f^{-1}(R) \Subset D_f \text{ for all } R \in \mathcal{R} \}.$$

We introduce a topology in  $Loc(X, Y, \mathcal{R})$  generated by the subbasis consisting of all sets of the form

- $H(C,U) := \{ f \in \operatorname{Loc}(X,Y,\mathcal{R}) \mid C \subset D_f, f(C) \subset U \}$  for  $C \in X$ and  $U \in \tau(Y)$ ,
- $M(V,R) := \{ f \in \text{Loc}(X,Y,\mathcal{R}) \mid f^{-1}(R) \subset V \} \text{ for } V \in \tau(X) \text{ and } R \in \mathcal{R}.$

Elements of  $\text{Loc}(X, Y, \mathcal{R})$  are called *local maps*. The natural base point of  $\text{Loc}(X, Y, \mathcal{R})$  is the empty map. Let  $\sqcup$  denote the union of two disjoint local maps. Moreover, in the case when  $\mathcal{R} = \{\{y\}\}$  we will write Loc(X, Y, y) omitting double curly brackets. For more details we refer the reader to [4].

364 P. BARTŁOMIEJCZYK, B. KAMEDULSKI AND P. NOWAK-PRZYGODZKI

**1.2.** Equivariant maps. Assume that V is a real finite dimensional orthogonal representation of a finite group G. Let X be an arbitrary G-space. We say that  $f: X \to V$  is equivariant, if f(qx) = qf(x) for all  $x \in X$  and  $q \in G$ . We will denote by  $\mathcal{C}_G(X, V)$  the space  $\{f \in \text{Loc}(X, V, 0) \mid f \text{ is equivariant}\}$ with the induced topology. Assume that  $\Omega$  is an open invariant subset of V. Elements of  $\mathcal{C}_G(\Omega, V)$  are called *equivariant local maps*.

**1.3.** Otopies. Let I = [0, 1]. We assume that the action of G on I is trivial. Any element of  $\mathcal{C}_G(I \times \Omega, V)$  is called an *otopy*. Each otopy corresponds to a path in  $\mathcal{C}_G(\Omega, V)$  and vice versa. Given an otopy  $h: \Lambda \subset I \times \Omega \to V$  we can define for each  $t \in I$ :

- sets Λ<sub>t</sub> = {x ∈ Ω | (t, x) ∈ Λ},
  maps h<sub>t</sub>: Λ<sub>t</sub> → V with h<sub>t</sub>(x) = h(t, x).

In this situation we say that  $h_0$  and  $h_1$  are *otopic*. Otopy gives an equivalence relation on  $\mathcal{C}_G(\Omega, V)$ . The set of otopy classes will be denoted by  $\mathcal{C}_G[\Omega, V]$ .

Remark 1.1. Observe that if  $f \in \mathcal{C}_G(\Omega, V)$  and U is an open invariant subset of  $D_f$  such that  $f^{-1}(0) \subset U$ , then f and  $f \upharpoonright_U$  are otopic. In particular, if  $f^{-1}(0) = \emptyset$  then f is otopic to the empty map.

**1.4.** *G***-actions.** If *H* is a subgroup of *G* then

- (H) stands for the conjugacy class of H,
- NH is the normalizer of H in G,
- WH is the Weyl group of H i.e. WH = NH/H.

Recall that  $G_x = \{g \in G \mid gx = x\}$ . We define the following subsets of V:

$$V^{H} = \{ x \in V \mid H \subset G_{x} \},$$
  

$$\Omega_{H} = \{ x \in \Omega \mid H = G_{x} \},$$
  

$$\Omega_{(H)} = \{ x \in \Omega \mid (H) = (G_{x}) \}$$

The set  $Iso(\Omega) := \{(H) \mid H \text{ is a closed subgroup of } G \text{ and } \Omega_H \neq \emptyset\}$  is partially ordered. Namely,  $(H) \leq (K)$  if H is conjugate to a subgroup of K.

We will make use of the following well-known facts:

- $\bullet~V^H$  is a linear subspace of V and an orthogonal representation of WH.
- $\Omega_H$  is open in  $V^H$ ,
- the action of WH on  $\Omega_H$  is free,
- $\Omega_{(H)}$  is a *G*-invariant submanifold of  $\Omega$ ,
- if (H) is maximal in  $Iso(\Omega)$  then  $\Omega_{(H)}$  is closed in  $\Omega$ .

1.5. Splitting of  $\mathcal{C}_{G}[\Omega, V]$ . Let  $\Omega$  be an open invariant subset of a real finite dimensional orthogonal representation of a compact Lie group G. Assume that orbit types appearing in  $\Omega$  are indexed (according to the partial order) by natural numbers  $1, 2, \ldots, m$ . Recall two splitting results concerning the set  $\mathcal{C}_G[\Omega, V]$ .

**Theorem 1.2** ([1, Thm 5.4]). There is a natural bijection

$$\mathcal{C}_G[\Omega, V] \approx \mathcal{C}_{WH_m} \left[ \Omega_{H_m}, V^{H_m} \right] \times \mathcal{C}_G \left[ \Omega \setminus \Omega_{(H_m)}, V \right].$$
(1.1)

Naively, it would seem that it is enough to define the above bijection by taking the otopy classes of the respective restrictions

$$[f] \mapsto \left( \left[ f \upharpoonright_{D_f \cap \Omega_{H_m}} \right], \left[ f \upharpoonright_{D_f \setminus \Omega_{(H_m)}} \right] \right)$$

Unfortunately, in general, it is not true that  $f \upharpoonright_{D_f \setminus \Omega_{(H_m)}} \in C_G(\Omega \setminus \Omega_{(H_m)}, V)$ . For that reason, we first need to perturbate f within its otopy class to guarantee that the restriction of the perturbation to the set  $D_f \setminus \Omega_{(H_m)}$  is an element of  $C_G(\Omega \setminus \Omega_{(H_m)}, V)$ . Moreover, our perturbation does not change f on  $\Omega_{(H_m)}$ . This procedure is described in detail in [1, Sec. 5].

If we apply induction to (1.1), we get immediately the following result.

Corollary 1.3 ([1, Thm 6.1]). There is a natural bijection

$$\Psi \colon \mathcal{C}_G[\Omega, V] \to \prod_{i=1}^m \mathcal{C}_{WH_i}\left[\Omega_{H_i}, V^{H_i}\right].$$
(1.2)

For k = 1, 2, ..., m, let

$$\pi_k \colon \prod_{i=1}^m \mathcal{C}_{WH_i} \left[ \Omega_{H_i}, V^{H_i} \right] \to \mathcal{C}_{WH_k} \left[ \Omega_{H_k}, V^{H_k} \right]$$

denote the natural projection.

**1.6.** Burnside ring. Assume again that G is finite. Let  $\mathcal{A}^+(G)$  be the set of isomorphism classes of finite G-sets. While disjoint union of finite G-sets induces addition on  $\mathcal{A}^+(G)$ , cartesian product with diagonal action induces multiplication, i.e.

$$[X] + [Y] = [X \sqcup Y], \quad [X] \cdot [Y] = [X \times Y],$$

where [X], [Y] are isomorphism classes of finite *G*-sets. The resulting structure is a commutative semi-ring with identity.

Since every finite G-set is a disjoint union of its orbits, each element of the semi-ring can be presented uniquely as  $\sum d_{(H)}[^{G}/_{H}]$ , where each  $d_{(H)}$  is a non-negative integer and  $[^{G}/_{H}]$  is the isomorphism class of  $^{G}/_{H}$ , which depends only on the conjugacy class of H. The problem of decomposing  $^{G}/_{H} \times {}^{G}/_{K}$  into orbits makes multiplication in  $\mathcal{A}^{+}(G)$  non-trivial.

The Grothendieck ring constructed from  $\mathcal{A}^+(G)$  is denoted by  $\mathcal{A}(G)$  and called the *Burnside ring* of G. Additively, it is a free abelian group generated by isomorphism classes  $[^G/_H]$  of  $^G/_H$ .  $\mathcal{A}(G)$  is a commutative ring with the unit  $[^G/_G]$ .

**1.7. Local cross sections of a vector bundle.** All manifolds considered are without boundary. Assume  $p: E \to M$  is a smooth (i.e.,  $C^1$ ) vector bundle. We will identify M with the zero section of E. A *local cross section* of a bundle  $p: E \to M$  is a continuous map  $s: U \to E$ , where U is open in  $M, s^{-1}(M)$  is compact and  $p \circ s = \mathrm{Id}_U$ . Let  $\Gamma(M, E)$  denote the set of all local cross sections of E over M.

Assume that rank  $E = \dim M$  and E is orientable as a manifold. Let us denote by I(s) the oriented intersection number of a local cross section s (see for instance [9, 10]), which is an integer. The intersection number is otopy invariant i.e., if two local cross sections are otopic then they have the same intersection number. Moreover, the following result holds. We write here  $\Gamma[M, E]$  for the set of otopy classes of local cross sections of E over M.

**Theorem 1.4** ([2, Thm 5.2]). If M is connected then the intersection number I:  $\Gamma[M, E] \to \mathbb{Z}$  is a bijection.

## 2. Degree $\deg_G$

In papers [2, 3, 7] the authors introduce the equivariant degree deg<sub>G</sub> :  $C_G(V, V) \rightarrow \mathcal{A}(G)$  for the action of a compact Lie group G and prove that the degree has the following expected properties.

Additivity property. If  $f, f' \in C_G(V, V)$  and  $D_f \cap D_{f'} = \emptyset$  then

 $\deg_G(f \sqcup f') = \deg_G f + \deg_G f'.$ 

**Otopy invariance.** Let  $f, f' \in C_G(V, V)$ . If f and f' are otopic then

$$\deg_G f = \deg_G f'.$$

**Solution property.** If  $\deg_G f \neq 0$  then f(x) = 0 for some  $x \in D_f$ .

In order to formulate the next property, it is necessary to introduce some notation and make some assumptions. Let B(p,r) denote the open *r*-ball in V around p. Assume that G is finite,  $x \in V$  and  $f: \bigcup_{y \in Gx} B(y, \epsilon) \to V$ , where  $\epsilon < \frac{1}{2} \min\{|a - b| \mid a, b \in Gx, a \neq b\}$ .

**Normalization property.** If f(y + v) = v for  $y \in Gx$  and  $|v| < \epsilon$ , then  $f \in \mathcal{C}_G(V, V)$ ,  $f^{-1}(0) = Gx$  and  $\deg_G f = [G/G_x]$ .

*Remark* 2.1. The equivariant degree, as an element of the Burnside ring, consists of multiple coefficients. Examination of these allows not only to find orbits of zeros, but also to analyze their orbit types.

Recall here that the main goal of this paper is to show that the degree  $\deg_G$  has the *product property* as well.

#### 3. Main result

Assume that

• G is a finite group,

• V and W are real finite dimensional orthogonal representations of G. Recall that  $\mathcal{C}_G(V, V)$  denotes the space of equivariant local maps in V.

**Main Theorem.** If  $f \in C_G(V, V)$  and  $f' \in C_G(W, W)$ , then  $f \times f' \in C_G(V \oplus W, V \oplus W)$  and

 $\deg_G(f \times f') = \deg_G f \cdot \deg_G f',$ 

where " $\cdot$ " denotes the multiplication in the Burnside ring  $\mathcal{A}(G)$ .

## 4. Standard and polystandard maps

In this section we introduce standard and polystandard maps and study their basic properties. These maps will play the crucial role in the proof of Main Theorem in the next section. Let us start with recalling the definition of an  $\epsilon$ -normal neighbourhood. Assume that:

- Y is a linear subspace of  $\mathbb{R}^n$ ,
- U is an open subset of Y.

Let  $Y^{\perp}$  denote the orthogonal complement of Y in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . For  $\epsilon > 0$  let us denote by  $U^{\epsilon}$  the set  $U^{\epsilon} = \{x + v \mid x \in U, v \in Y^{\perp}, |v| < \epsilon\}$ . Any such set will be called an  $\epsilon$ -normal neighbourhood of U.

Now we are ready to introduce two important classes of maps: standard and polystandard. A map  $f \in C_G(V, V)$  is called *standard* if

- $f^{-1}(0) = Gx_0$  for some  $x_0 \in D_f$ ,
- there is an open subset U of  $V_H$ , where  $H = G_{x_0}$ , and  $\epsilon > 0$  such that:

$$- f^{-1}(0) \cap U = \{x_0\}, - U^{\epsilon} \subset D_f,$$

$$-f(x+v) = f(x) + v \text{ for all } x \in U, v \in (V^H)^{\perp}, |v| < \epsilon.$$

In such situation we also say that f is standard with respect to  $x_0$ , U and  $\epsilon$ . A map  $f \in \mathcal{C}_G(V, V)$  is called *m*-standard if there are standard maps  $f_i$  (i = 1, ..., m) with disjoint domains such that:

$$f^{-1}(0) \subset \sqcup_{i=1}^m D_{f_i} \subset D_f.$$

If a map is m-standard for some m, we call it *polystandard*. A finite disjoint union of standard maps is called *strictly polystandard*. By Remark 1.1, any polystandard map is otopic to a strictly polystandard one.

In what follows, we will need the notation that relates the classical topological and equivariant degrees. Let f be standard with respect to x, U and  $\epsilon$  and let  $\alpha = Gx$ . Consider a map  $f_x : U \subset V_H \to V^H$  given by  $f_x = f \upharpoonright_U$ . Let  $d_x = \deg(f_x, U)$ .

**Proposition 4.1.** For each  $g \in G$  the equality  $d_x = d_{qx}$  holds.

**Proof.** Let  $g \in G$  and  $K = G_{gx}$ . Then  $V^K = gV^H$ . Consider a map  $f_{gx}: gU \subset V_K \to V^K$  satisfying  $f_{gx}(y) = gf_x(g^{-1}y)$ . Since  $g: V^H \to V^K$  is an isomorphism of linear spaces,

$$d_{qx} = \deg(f_{qx}, gU) = \deg(f_x, U) = d_x.$$

#### 368 P. BARTŁOMIEJCZYK, B. KAMEDULSKI AND P. NOWAK-PRZYGODZKI

Define  $d_{\alpha} = d_y$ , where y is any element of  $\alpha$ . Proposition 4.1 guarantees that the integer  $d_{\alpha}$  is well-defined. The main advantage of standard and polystandard maps is that we can immediately compute their equivariant degree deg<sub>G</sub> if we know the value of  $d_{\alpha}$ . Namely, let f be a standard map and  $\alpha = Gx = f^{-1}(0)$ . Then

$$\deg_G f = d_\alpha [G/G_x] = d_\alpha [\alpha].$$

More generally, let f be a m-standard map, and let  $\{\alpha_i\}_{i=1}^m$  denote the set of orbits of zeros of f. Then

$$\deg_G f = \sum_{i=1}^m d_{\alpha_i}[\alpha_i]$$

#### 5. Proof of Main Theorem

To prove Main Theorem we will need two lemmas.

**Lemma 5.1.** Let f, f' be standard maps and  $\alpha = f^{-1}(0), \beta = (f')^{-1}(0)$ . Then  $f \times f'$  is polystandard and for each orbit  $\gamma \subset \alpha \times \beta$  we have:

$$d_{\gamma} = d_{\alpha} \cdot d_{\beta}$$

Moreover,

$$\deg_G(f \times f') = \deg_G f \cdot \deg_G f'$$

**Proof.** First we show that  $f \times f'$  is polystandard. Assume that f is standard with respect to  $x_0$ , U and  $\epsilon$  and f' is standard with respect to  $x'_0$ , U' and  $\epsilon'$ . Let  $H = G_{x_0}$  and  $K = G_{x'_0}$ . Note that  $(f \times f')^{-1}(0) = Gx_0 \times Gx'_0$  is a finite union of orbits and  $G_{(x_0,x'_0)} = H \cap K$ . Since  $U^{\epsilon} \times U'^{\epsilon'}$  is open in  $V \oplus W$  and

$$(x_0, x'_0) \in V_H \times W_K \subset (V \oplus W)_{H \cap K},$$

there exists an open subset  $U'' \subset (V \oplus W)_{H \cap K}$  and  $\epsilon'' > 0$  such that  $(f \times f')^{-1}(0) \cap U'' = \{(x_0, x'_0)\}$  and  $U''^{\epsilon''} \subset U^{\epsilon} \times U'^{\epsilon'}$ . Now let us check that  $(f \times f')(x'' + w'') = (f \times f')(x'') + w''$  for  $x'' \in U''$ ,

Now let us check that  $(f \times f')(x'' + w'') = (f \times f')(x'') + w''$  for  $x'' \in U''$ ,  $w'' \in ((V \oplus W)^{H \cap K})^{\perp}$ ,  $|w''| < \epsilon''$ . Note that since  $U'' \subset U^{\epsilon} \times U'^{\epsilon'}$ , x'' has the unique representation as (x, x') + (v, v'), where  $(x, x') \in U \times U'$  and  $(v, v') \in (V^H)^{\perp} \oplus (W^K)^{\perp}$ . Moreover, since

$$((V \oplus W)^{H \cap K})^{\perp} \subset (V^H)^{\perp} \oplus (W^K)^{\perp},$$

w'' can be uniquely written as (w, w') with  $w \in (V^H)^{\perp}$  and  $w' \in (W^K)^{\perp}$ . Hence

$$(f \times f')(x'' + w'') = (f \times f')(x + v + w, x' + v' + w')$$
  
=  $(f(x + v + w), f'(x' + v' + w')) = (f(x) + v + w, f'(x') + v' + w')$   
=  $(f(x + v) + w, f'(x' + v') + w') = (f \times f')(x'') + w'',$ 

which proves that  $f \times f'$  is polystandard.

Next we show the formula  $d_{\gamma} = d_{\alpha} \cdot d_{\beta}$ . Let  $(x_0, x'_0) \in \gamma \subset \alpha \times \beta$ . Observe that

$$d_{\alpha} = d_{x_0} = \deg(f_{x_0}, U) \stackrel{1}{=} \deg(f, U^{\epsilon}),$$
  
$$d_{\beta} = d_{x'_0} = \deg(f'_{x'_0}, U') \stackrel{1}{=} \deg(f', U'^{\epsilon'}).$$

Thus we get

$$d_{\gamma} = d_{(x_0, x'_0)} = \deg((f \times f')_{(x_0, x'_0)}, U'') \stackrel{1}{=} \deg(f \times f', U''^{\epsilon''})$$
  
$$\stackrel{2}{=} \deg(f \times f', U^{\epsilon} \times U'^{\epsilon'}) \stackrel{1}{=} \deg(f, U^{\epsilon}) \cdot \deg(f', U'^{\epsilon'}) = d_{\alpha} \cdot d_{\beta}.$$

In the above we used two properties of the classical topological degree: the product formula (1) and the localization of zeros (2).

Finally, we prove the product formula for standard maps. As we have shown,  $f \times f'$  is *m*-standard for some *m*. Decompose  $\alpha \times \beta$  into the disjoint union of orbits  $\bigsqcup_{i=1}^{m} \gamma_i$ . We have  $d_{\gamma_i} = d_{\alpha} \cdot d_{\beta}$  for each  $i = 1, 2, \ldots, m$ . Thus we get

$$\deg_G(f \times f') = \sum_{i=1}^m d_{\gamma_i}[\gamma_i] = \sum_{i=1}^m d_\alpha d_\beta[\gamma_i] = d_\alpha d_\beta \sum_{i=1}^m [\gamma_i]$$
$$= d_\alpha d_\beta[\alpha \times \beta] = d_\alpha[\alpha] \cdot d_\beta[\beta] = \deg_G f \cdot \deg_G f',$$
nich establishes the desired formula.

which establishes the desired formula.

We precede the next lemma by recalling the following notation. Orbit types in V are indexed (according to the partial order) by natural numbers  $i = 1, 2, \ldots, m$ . In particular,  $H_1 = G$ . Write  $M_i = V_{H_i}/WH_i$  and  $E_i = V_{H_i}/WH_i$  $(V_{H_i} \times V^{H_i})/WH_i$ . Recall that  $p_i \colon E_i \to M_i$  is a vector bundle such that rank  $E_i = \dim M_i$  and  $E_i$  is orientable as a manifold. Moreover, the bundle  $E_i \to M_i$  is naturally isomorphic to the tangent bundle  $TM_i \to M_i$ .

Recall that  $\Gamma(M_i, E_i)$  ( $\Gamma[M_i, E_i]$ ) stands for the set of (otopy classes of) local cross sections of the bundle  $p_i$ . Moreover, let us denote by

$$\Theta_i \colon \mathcal{C}_{WH_i} \left( V_{H_i}, V^{H_i} \right) \to \Gamma(M_i, E_i)$$

the function defined by the formula  $\Theta_i(f)([x]) = [(x, f(x))]$ , where  $x \in V_{H_i}$ and by

$$\Xi_i \colon \mathcal{C}_{WH_i} \left[ V_{H_i}, V^{H_i} \right] \to \Gamma[M_i, E_i]$$

the function given by  $\Xi_i([f]) = [\Theta_i(f)]$ . Since  $WH_i$  acts freely on  $V_{H_i}$ , both  $\Theta_i$  and  $\Xi_i$  are bijections (see [2, Thm 4.1]).

Let  $\{M_{ij}\}_j$  denote the set of connected components of the manifold  $M_i$ and n(i) denote the number of these components, which is finite or countable. Observe that, by Theorem 1.4, the function

$$I_i \colon \Gamma[M_i, E_i] \to \sum_{j=1}^{n(i)} \mathbb{Z}$$

defined by  $I_i([s]) = \{I(s \upharpoonright_{M_{ij}})\}_{j=1}^{n(i)}$  is a bijection. Now we are ready to define the function

$$\Phi \colon \mathcal{C}_G(V, V) \to \prod_{i=1}^m \left(\sum_{j=1}^{n(i)} \mathbb{Z}\right)$$

required in the formulation of the next lemma. Namely, let

$$\Phi(f) := \{ (\mathbf{I}_i \circ \Xi_i \circ \pi_i \circ \Psi)([f]) \}_{i=1}^m$$

with the notation  $\Psi$  and  $\pi_i$  introduced in Subsection 1.5. By [2, Thm 5.2] the function  $\Phi$  has the following properties

• 
$$\Phi(\mathcal{C}_G(V,V)) = \begin{cases} \prod_{i=1}^m \left( \sum_{j=1}^{n(i)} \mathbb{Z} \right) & \text{if } \dim V^G > 0, \\ \{0,1\} \times \prod_{i=2}^m \left( \sum_{j=1}^{n(i)} \mathbb{Z} \right) & \text{if } \dim V^G = 0, \end{cases}$$

• the function induced by  $\Phi$  on  $\mathcal{C}_G[V, V]$ , which will be denoted by the same letter, is an injection.

**Lemma 5.2.** For any system  $\{c_{ij}\} \in \Phi(\mathcal{C}_G(V, V))$  there is a strictly polystandard map f such that  $\Phi(f) = \{c_{ij}\}$ .

**Proof.** We need to consider two cases.

CASE 1: dim  $V^G > 0$ . Under that assumption we have dim  $M_i > 0$  for each i = 1, 2, ..., m. Fix  $\{c_{ij}\} \in \Phi(\mathcal{C}_G(V, V))$ , where  $c_{ij} \in \mathbb{Z}$ . On the component  $M_{ij}$  choose  $|c_{ij}|$  points together with their disjoint disc neighbourhoods. Let us denote by  $P_{ij}$  the set of these points and by  $F_{ij}$  the union of their neighbourhoods. By Corollary A.2 from Appendix A, there is a local cross section  $s_{ij}: F_{ij} \subset M_{ij} \to E_i$  such that

$$s_{ij}^{-1}(M_{ij}) = P_{ij}$$
 and  $I(s_{ij}) = c_{ij}$ .

Next we define a local cross section  $s_i: F_i \subset M_i \to E_i$  as a disjoint union  $s_i = \bigcup_{j=1}^{n(i)} s_{ij}$ . Note that the set  $\bigcup_{i,j} P_{ij}$  is finite, because only a finite number of  $c_{ij}$  are nonzero. Set  $f_i = \Theta_i^{-1}(s_i)$ . By the definition of  $\Theta_i$ ,  $f_i \in \mathcal{C}_{WH_i}(V_{H_i}, V^{H_i})$  and by the construction of  $s_i$ , the domain  $D_{f_i}$  is the union of disjoint discs around all points in  $f_i^{-1}(0)$ . Consequently, the set  $D := \bigcup_{i=1}^m D_{f_i}$  is a finite disjoint union of discs  $R_k$  such that every disc contains one zero of a given  $f_i$ . Thus  $D = \bigsqcup_k R_k$ . Observe that there is  $\epsilon > 0$  such that the sets  $R_k^\epsilon$  are pairwise disjoint. Since any point of  $\bigsqcup_k R_k^\epsilon$  can be uniquely represented in the form gx + gv, where  $x \in D_{f_i}$ ,  $v \in (V^{H_i})^{\perp}$ ,  $|v| < \epsilon$ , let us define  $f: D_f := \bigsqcup_k R_k^\epsilon \to V$  by

$$f(gx + gv) = gf_i(x) + gv$$

for all  $g \in G$ ,  $x \in D_{f_i}$ ,  $v \in (V^{H_i})^{\perp}$ ,  $|v| < \epsilon$ . Our construction guarantees that

- $f \in \mathcal{C}_G(V, V),$
- f is strictly polystandard,
- $\Phi(f) = \{c_{ij}\}.$

CASE 2: dim  $V^G = 0$ . In that situation,  $M_1 = \{0\}$  and dim  $M_i > 0$  for i > 1. Analogously as in the previous case, we define  $f: D_f \to V$ , but now in the construction of f we take into account  $M_i$  only for i > 1. By choosing the disc neighbourhoods small enough, we can guarantee that  $0 \notin cl(D_f)$ . Hence there is  $\delta > 0$  such that  $B(0, \delta) \cap D_f = \emptyset$ , where  $B(0, \delta)$  denotes the open  $\delta$ -ball in V around the origin. Set

$$\widetilde{f} = \begin{cases} f & \text{if } c_{11} = 0, \\ f \sqcup \operatorname{Id}_{B(0,\delta)} & \text{if } c_{11} = 1. \end{cases}$$

It is easy to see that  $\Phi(\tilde{f}) = \{c_{ij}\}.$ 

**Corollary 5.3.** In each otopy class in  $C_G(V, V)$  there is a strictly polystandard map.

**Proof.** Recall that  $\Phi: \mathcal{C}_G[V, V] \to \prod (\sum \mathbb{Z})$  is an injection. Let  $[f] \in \mathcal{C}_G[V, V]$ . By Lemma 5.2, there is a strictly polystandard map  $f' \in \mathcal{C}_G(V, V)$  such that  $\Phi([f']) = \Phi([f])$ . From the injectivity of  $\Phi, f' \in [f]$ .

It occurs that Main Theorem is now a consequence of Lemma 5.1 and Corollary 5.3.

**Proof of Main Theorem.** The fact that  $f \times f' \in C_G(V \oplus W, V \oplus W)$  is obvious. By Corollary 5.3, f and f' are otopic to strictly polystandard maps  $\sqcup_k f_k$  and  $\sqcup_l f'_l$  respectively, where  $f_k$  and  $f'_l$  are standard. In consequence,  $f \times f'$  is otopic to  $\sqcup_k f_k \times \sqcup_l f'_l = \sqcup_{k,l} (f_k \times f'_l)$ . Hence

$$\deg_G(f \times f') \stackrel{1}{=} \deg_G \sqcup_{k,l} (f_k \times f'_l) \stackrel{2}{=} \sum_{k,l} \deg_G(f_k \times f'_l)$$
$$\stackrel{3}{=} \sum_{k,l} \deg_G f_k \cdot \deg_G f'_l = \left(\sum_k \deg_G f_k\right) \cdot \left(\sum_l \deg_G f'_l\right)$$
$$\stackrel{2}{=} \left(\deg_G \sqcup_k f_k\right) \cdot \left(\deg_G \sqcup_l f'_l\right) \stackrel{1}{=} \deg_G f \cdot \deg_G f'$$

from the otopy invariance property (1), the additivity property (2) and Lemma 5.1 (3). This completes the proof.  $\Box$ 

Remark 5.4. Apart from the equivariant degree  $\deg_G$ , the equivariant gradient degree  $\deg_G^{\nabla}$  with values in the Euler-tom Dieck ring  $\mathcal{U}(G)$  is also considered, studied and applied (see for example [3, 5, 8, 11]). In many situations  $\deg_G^{\nabla}$  gives more information than  $\deg_G$ . However, for a finite group the Burnside ring  $\mathcal{A}(G)$  and the Euler-tom Dieck ring  $\mathcal{U}(G)$  are identical. Moreover,  $\deg_G = \deg_G^{\nabla}$  if we restrict ourselves to equivariant gradient local maps. In consequence, in the case of a finite group action the product formula holds also for  $\deg_G^{\nabla}$ .

#### Appendix A.

Assume that  $p: E \to M$  is a vector bundle over a manifold M such that  $\dim M > 0$ , rank  $E = \dim M$  and E is orientable as a manifold.

**Lemma A.1.** For any  $q \in M$ , any disc neighbourhood D of q and any  $\alpha \in \{-1,1\}$  there is a local cross section  $s: D \subset M \to E$  such that  $s^{-1}(M) = \{q\}$  and  $I(s) = \alpha$ .

**Proof.** Let  $B = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n \mid |x| < 1\}$  and  $TB = B \times \mathbb{R}^n$ . Consider a local cross section  $s_A \colon B \to TB$  given by  $s_A(x) = (x, Ax)$ , where A is linear and det  $A = \alpha$ . Observe that  $I(s_A) = \alpha$ .

Let us note that we can identify TD with  $E \mid_D$ . Take a diffeomorphism  $\varphi : B \to D$  such that  $\varphi(0) = q$ . It induces a tangent map  $T\varphi : TB \to TD$ . Finally, define a local cross section  $s: D \to E$  by formula  $s(x) = T\varphi(s_A(\varphi^{-1}(x)))$ . It is easy to see that  $s^{-1}(M) = q$  and  $I(s) = I(s_A) = \alpha$ .

An immediate consequence of the above lemma is the following result.

**Corollary A.2.** Let  $l \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}$ . For any set Q of |l| distinct points in M and any set of disjoint disc neighbourhoods of these points there is a local cross section s defined on the union of these neighbourhoods such that  $s^{-1}(M) = Q$  and I(s) = l.

Acknowledgements. The authors wish to express their thanks to the referee for helpful comments concerning the paper.

## References

- BARTLOMIEJCZYK, PIOTR. On the space of equivariant local maps. *Topol. Methods Nonlinear Anal.* 45 (2015), no. 1, 233–246. MR3365013, Zbl 1368.55008, doi:10.12775/TMNA.2015.012.365
- [2] BARTLOMIEJCZYK, PIOTR. A Hopf type theorem for equivariant local maps. Colloq. Math. 147 (2017), no. 2, 315–324. MR3628169, Zbl 1371.55009, arXiv:1508.06468, doi:10.4064/cm6457-8-2016.366, 369, 370
- BARTLOMIEJCZYK, PIOTR; GEBA, KAZIMIERZ; IZYDOREK, MAREK. Otopy classes of equivariant local maps. J. Fixed Point Theory Appl. 7 (2010), no. 1, 145–160. MR2652514 (2012d:55017), Zbl 1205.55008, doi: 10.1007/s11784-010-0013-0. 366, 371
- [4] BARTLOMIEJCZYK, PIOTR; NOWAK-PRZYGODZKI, PIOTR. The exponential law for partial, local and proper maps and its application to otopy theory. *Commun. Contemp. Math.* **16** (2014), no. 5, 1450005, 12 pp. MR3253901, Zbl 1303.55003, doi:10.1142/S0219199714500059. 363
- BARTLOMIEJCZYK, PIOTR; NOWAK-PRZYGODZKI, PIOTR. The Hopf type theorem for equivariant gradient local maps. J. Fixed Point Theory Appl. 19 (2017), no. 4, 2733– 2753. MR3720478, Zbl 06817773, arXiv:1510.00235, doi:10.1007/s11784-017-0451-z. 371
- BROWN, ROBERT F. A topological introduction to nonlinear analysis. Birkhäuser Boston, Inc., Boston, MA, 1993. x+146 pp. ISBN: 0-8176-3706-0. MR1232418 (94j:47093), Zbl 0794.47034, doi: 10.1007/978-1-4757-1209-4. 363

- GEBA, KAZIMIERZ; KRAWCEWICZ, WIESLAW.; WU, JIAN. An equivariant degree with applications to symmetric bifurcation problems, Part 1: Construction of the degree. Proc. London Math. Soc. (3) 69 (1994), no. 2, 377–398. MR1281970 (95g:58025), Zbl 0823.47060, doi: 10.1112/plms/s3-69.2.377. 363, 366
- [8] GOLĘBIEWSKA, ANNA; RYBICKI, SLAWOMIR. Equivariant Conley index versus the degree for equivariant gradient maps. *Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. Ser. S* 6 (2013), no. 4, 985–997. MR3009051, Zbl 1353.37103, doi: 10.3934/dcdss.2013.6.985. 371
- [9] GUILLEMIN, VICTOR; POLLACK, ALAN. Differential topology. Prentice-Hall, Inc., Englewood Cliffs, N.J., 1974. xvi+222 pp. MR0348781 (50 #1276), Zbl 0361.57001, doi:10.1090/chel/370.366
- [10] HIRSCH, MORRIS W. Differential topology. Graduate Texts in Mathematics, 33. Springer-Verlag, New York-Heidelberg, 1976. x+221 pp. MR0448362 (56 #6669), Zbl 0356.57001, doi: 10.1007/978-1-4684-9449-5. 366
- [11] RYBICKI, SŁAWOMIR. Degree for equivariant gradient maps. Milan J. Math. 73 (2005), 103–144. MR2175038 (2006f:58016), Zbl 1116.58009, doi: 10.1007/s00032-005-0040-2. 371

(P. Bartłomiejczyk) Faculty of Applied Physics and Mathematics, Gdańsk University of Technology, Gabriela Narutowicza 11/12, 80-233 Gdańsk, Poland piobartl@pg.edu.pl

(B. Kamedulski) INSTITUTE OF MATHEMATICS, FACULTY OF MATHEMATICS, PHYSICS AND INFORMATICS, UNIVERSITY OF GDAŃSK, WITA STWOSZA 57, 80-308 GDAŃSK, PO-LAND, AND GDYNIA MARITIME UNIVERSITY, DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, MORSKA 81-87, 81-225 GDYNIA, POLAND

bartosz.kamedulski@gmail.com

(P. Nowak-Przygodzki) Faculty of Applied Physics and Mathematics, Gdańsk University of Technology, Gabriela Narutowicza $11/12,\,80\text{-}233$ Gdańsk, Poland

#### piotrnp@wp.pl

This paper is available via http://nyjm.albany.edu/j/2019/25-17.html.